FILED

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 16 1993

By Chief Deputy Clerk

LANCELOT ARMSTRONG,)
Appellant,))
v.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,) CASE
Appellee.	?))

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JCRANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

NO. 78,180

JEFFREY L ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LANCELOT ARMSTRONG,)
Appellant,	}
v.	}
STATE OF FLORIDA,) CASE NO. 78,180
Appellee.	}
	<u></u>)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"ISR" Supplemental Record (received August, 1992)

"2SR" Second Supplemental Record (received March, 1993).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Lancelot Armstrong, was charged by indictment with one count of premeditated murder; one count of attempted premeditated murder; and one count of robbery (R2061). Jury selection began on April 8, 1991. At the close of the state's case, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal (R1640-41). Appellant's motion was denied (R1643). Appellant was found guilt of murder in the first degree as charged (R2370). Appellant was found guilty of attempted murder in the first degree as charged (R2372). Appellant was found guilty of robbery (R2374). The jury recommended the death penalty (R2414). The trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder (R2420,2427-28). The trial court departed from the recommended quideline sentence of 7-22 years (R2418) and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the attempted murder (R2423) and life imprisonment for the robbery (R2426). The life sentences are to run consecutively (R2428). A timely notice of appeal was filed (R2437).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The relevant facts are as follows:

In the early morning hours of February 17, 1990, Ruel Allen received a call from Appellant (R1298-99). Appellant told Allen that he needed someone to go with him to Church's Chicken (R1300). Appellant said that he received a call from a girl who works there saying he could come in and take some money from the store (R1300). Appellant told Allen that all he had to do was take the money from the manager and that he did not have to use a gun and shots would not be fired (R1315). Allen understood that it would be a set up; an "inside job" (R1316). Allen told Appellant that he was sleeping and was not interested (R1301).

Katrina Thomas testified that she worked at Church's Chicken on Broward Boulevard (R627). On February 12, 1990, at approximately ten minutes after two a.m., two men drove their car (a blue Toyota Camry) up to the drive-through window (R629). Thomas told them that the store was closed (R629). One of the men asked if he could speak to Kay (R631). Thomas then told Kay Allen that there were two men who wanted to talk to her (R631). Kay Allen responded, "Oh my God. Oh shit" (R631) Allen unlocked the door and let the men inside (R631). Allen told one of the men to leave and that she would "beep" him (R633). Allen then went to the back room of the store and began counting the money (R634-35). The two men remained in the store (R633). Thomas observed the two men whispering (R636). Thomas then went to the back office to tell Allen (R636). Allen returned to the front and Appellant whispered something to

her (R636). Appellant and Allen went into the car outside (R636). After punching out, Thomas walked by the car and said goodbye to Allen (R638).

Nora Whitehead was a cashier at Church's Chicken on the morning of February 17, 1990. Whitehead testified that when Kay Allen was told that someone was there to see her, Allen said, "Oh He has got to go" (R646). Allen told Appellant, "Go and I will beep you later" (R646). Allen went to the back office where the night receipts were located (R648). She was there for fifteen minutes when Appellant asked for her again (R648). Allen came to the front and said she was finished (R649). Allen then began talking with Appellant and they walked outside into the car (R649). The other employees punched out at approximately 2:58 a.m. and left (R651). Whitehead stayed inside with the second man (R651-52). He looked a little perturbed as if ready to go (R652). Whitehead walked outside and told Allen that she needed her check (R654). Whitehead returned inside (R654). Whitehead saw Appellant open the car door as if he was going to get out and Allen reached over and grabbed him more or less trying to calm him down (R654). Whitehead then left (R655).

Kenegral Allen, also known as Kay Allen, testified that she was the assistant manager at Church's Chicken and part of her responsibility was closing up at night (R673-74). Allen met Appellant in 1988 (R684). They dated approximately a dozen times and formed a relationship (R684). She saw Appellant two or three times between that time and February 16, 1990 (R687).

Allen testified that she saw Appellant on the afternoon of February 16, 1990 (R687-88). Appellant and Allen talked for a while (R693,697). Allen later went to work at Church's Chicken and in the early morning was told someone was there to see her (R698). After being told that the person was in a blue Toyota, Allen knew that it had to be Appellant (R699). Allen let Appellant inside the store (R699). She had let him in the store on other occasions (R699). They spoke for a while and she told him she had to close out the register (R699). Allen closed out the register and counted the money in the office (R700-01). Allen returned to talk with Appellant (R701). Appellant said he was going to let his friend inside and waved for him to come inside (R701). The friend, Wayne Coleman, came inside (R703,709). Allen and Appellant went outside to the car to talk (R703-704). They had been talking for approximately fifteen minutes when Appellant reached under the seat and pulled out a qun (R705). Appellant asked Allen to go inside like nothing is happening and get the money and bring it out (R706). Allen said, "no" (R706). She said there was not enough money to go to jail over (R706). After sitting for a while, Allen told Appellant he would have to kill her or whatever (R709). Appellant placed the gun back under the seat (R709). They continued talking and Appellant said, "See that guy in there, he is all for it" (R709).

Allen testified that while she was in the car other employees were leaving and said goodbye (R710). Allen was in the car with Appellant for approximately 45 minutes to an hour (R712). After talking some more, Appellant signalled to Coleman (R713). Coleman

came to the car and Appellant told him that Allen was not cooperating with him (R713). Coleman went to the passenger's side and pulled a gun and said, "Bitch, get out of the car" (R714). Allen got out of the car and paced around (R714-15). Coleman then said you want to play rough or something (R715). Appellant said, "Kay, just do what he says" (R715).

Allen testified that the three of them went inside the restaurant (R716). One of the men told her to get the money (R716). She said she couldn't because she didn't have her keys (R716). Appellant went over the glass at the top of the counter and proceeded to unlock the side door to the kitchen (R718). Coleman pushed Allen inside and told her to open the safe (R719). She told him she couldn't (R720). Coleman told her to cut off the lights (R720). While he looked away, she pressed the silent alarm (R720). She then cut off all the lights (R720).

Allen testified that Coleman told her to get in the office (R723). Coleman pointed a gun at her head (R723). Allen opened the safe (R722). She put the money in a box that was on the counter (R722-23). Allen gave Coleman the money because she thought he was going to kill her (R723). Coleman told Allen to lay face down behind the stove (R723). He then told her to get up because he needed her (R724). Coleman said security was outside (R724). Allen got in front of Coleman (R724). He opened the side door (R724). Allen saw one police officer standing close to the front and another officer standing in the front (R724). Allen didn't see anyone else (R725). Coleman was holding the door open (R743). Allen was two feet in front of Coleman when he fired a

shot (R743). Allen then hit the floor and crawled under a table (R744). Coleman fired more shots (R744). Allen heard a machine gun being fired (R744). She heard continuous shots being fired (R744). Allen saw Coleman running back and forth firing from the kitchen area (R745). Coleman ran outside the front door (R745, 778). As he was running he fired a couple of shots (R778). Coleman returned after approximately 30 seconds (R778). There were no shots after he returned (R778). Coleman remained for 2 or 3 seconds to get the box with the money and then he left (R778). Allen then heard the car speed off (R746).

Deputy Robert Sallustio testified that on February 16, 1990, he was advised by the dispatcher that there was a silent alarm at 3551 West Broward (R788). Sallustio arrived at the scene. didn't notice anybody at the north or west side of Church's Chicken (R791). Sallustio made contact with Deputy John Greeney who was also at the scene (R792). Sallustio walked around the border of the property (R792). Greeney advised that he had a blue vehicle in front of Church's (R793). Sallustio could see the vehicle Sallustio saw Appellant in the driver's seat of the vehicle (R793,800). Greeney told Appellant to exit the car (R797). Appellant said that he was waiting to pick up his girlfriend who was the manager of Church's Chicken (R797). Greeney again told Appellant to exit the car (R798). Appellant asked whey they were bothering him (R798). By the time Appellant exited the car Sallustio was fifteen feet away with his gun trained on him (R798,803). Appellant put his hands on top of the car (R799).

Sallustio testified that Greeney patted Appellant down (R803). Sallustio observed movement inside Church's (R803). He saw a door open 2 to 3 feet and noticed a black female out of the corner of his eye (R804). Sallustio started to motion toward her when he heard Greeney yell, "Keep you hands back on the car" (R804). Sallustio averted his attention to Greeney and within a split second felt a round hit his chest (R804). Sallustio looked back toward Church's and saw glass breaking from another round (R804). When the second round came from Church's Sallustio felt his wrist go limp (R806). The round hit him in the wrist (R806). He saw a muzzle flash and saw a suspect he later identified as Wayne Coleman inside (R804). Sallustio fired 4 to 5 rounds at Coleman (R804). Sallustio then heard gun shots coming from the vehicle (R806). He felt one round hit him in the foot and another hit him in the back (R806). Sallustio fell to the ground (R806).

Sallustio testified that he was able to see a pair of legs when looking under the car (R807-08). He also observed Greeney laying on his back (R808). Sallustio got up to his knees and fired four or five shots at the legs he had seen by the car (R808-09). Sallustio then noticed Coleman running out of Church's (R809). Coleman was shooting at Sallustio as he ran (R809). Sallustio fired his remaining rounds at Coleman (R809). Coleman ran directly to the driver's side of the vehicle where Greeney was (R809). Sallustio retrieved a gun from his ankle holster and fired two rounds toward the vehicle (R810). Sallustio then heard several rounds of semi-automatic weapon fire (R858). Sallustio then went to the back of the building (R810). Sallustio noticed Appellant

running around the corner chasing him (R810). Sallustic looked around the corner and fired at Appellant (R810-11). Sallustic did not see Appellant with a weapon (R854). Sallustic again looked around the corner and fired again when he noticed that Appellant was running away (R812). Sallustic assumed that he had shot Appellant because he was running away (R859). Sallustic then retrieved his radio and called for help and advised that Greeney was injured (R812).

Sallustio testified that when he had testified in front of the Grand Jury he could not identify the suspect that he believed had chased him (R815). In the Grand Jury testimony Sallustio remembered being chased by a man in white pants (R842-43). Appellant was wearing dark pants, not white pants (R842-43).

Deputy Ben Williams testified that he heard the dispatch and proceeded to Church's Chicken (R592-93). Williams saw Sallustio at the northeast corner of the store (R594). Greeney was laying face up in the parking lot (R595). Greeney was dead (R595). Williams checked Church's for suspects (R595). Williams heard a female screaming under one of the tables (R596). She was saying, "Don't shoot me. Don't shoot me" (R596). Williams searched her and continued to check the rest of the store (R597). Sallustio's gun was found at the southeast corner of the store (R607).

Deputy David Favarulo testified that when he arrived at the scene he saw Greeney laying on the ground (R891). Greeney didn't have a pulse (R892). Favarulo noticed shell casings around Greeney (R894). Favarulo tried to get information from Sallustio to alert others as to what occurred (R904). The only information given was

that a blue Toyota, a black male in a tweed sweater were involved (R904). Favarulo got no further details from Sallustio when he met with him the next Saturday (R905).

Detective James Kammerer testified that he arrived at Church's at approximately 4:20 a.m. and processed the interior of the building (R1044-5). Kammerer found a total of seven fragments and three projectiles (R1058). There was a footwear impression on top of a table (R1070). A bullet found in the widow frame could have ricocheted or come from the inside of Church's (R1104). Kammerer also examined a vehicle at Mac's Towing at Dania the next day. Kammerer collected what appeared to be blood stains from the driver's seat, the armrest, the roof, the rocker panel, and numerous areas about the driver's side of the vehicle (R1074). Four projectile holes on the passenger side of the car were discovered (R1078). The vehicle was a Toyota with tag number HES-89E (R1079).

Bruce Ayala, an expert in the field of glass fracture pattern analysis, testified that he examined the large store front window and the bullet holes in that window (R1352). One projectile struck the inside surface and passed outside (R1354). There were four other holes passing from the outside to the inside (R1354). There was no way to tell when the bullets hit (R1356).

Charles Edel, who worked for the Broward County Sheriff's Office on February 17, 1990, testified that he responded to the scene at 4:08 a.m. (R948). Edel collected 28 shell casings from the scene (R951). Eighteen were brass casings (R951). Ten were aluminum casings (R951). The casings from Sallustio's weapon were

brass (R996). The maximum distance of ejection of a casing should be 2½ feet (R994). Edel had no explanation why one of the aluminum casings was on the west side when all other casings were located on the east side (R999). A revolver was found at the east side of the building (R961). There were four spent cartridges inside and one live round (R959). Edel also noticed that Deputy Greeney's flashlight appeared to have been struck by a projectile (R965). Edel was present at Deputy Greeney's autopsy (R968). There was a hole in the right breast pocket of Greeney's shirt (R970). There was a hole in the left shoulder area (R970). There was also a searing on the right epaulet (R970).

George Duncan testified as an expert in the field of DNA profiling (R1228). Duncan received numerous blood samples from Detective Kammerer (R1229). Duncan could not extract DNA, or could not get a DNA print, from any of these samples (R1232-34), with the exception of a sample that was represented to have come from the driver's seat of a car (R1231). The sample matched the blood of Jack Greeney from the Broward County Sheriff's Office (R1231).

Tom Mesick, an expert in the field of latent fingerprint examination, testified that a print found in the Toyota with tag number HES89E belonged to Appellant (R1450-51). A blood print on the window tinting of the Toyota belonged to Appellant (R1453). A number of firearm forms had Appellant's prints on them (R1457-61). A map had Wayne Coleman's thumb print on it (R1455). Mesick received 32 prints of value from Church's Chicken (R1467). There was one print of Coleman's inside Church's (R1468).

Ernest Hamm, an expert in footwear track identification, testified that in his opinion the footwear track made on the table inside Church's Chicken was probably made by State's Exhibit 149 (R1544).

Patrick Garland, an expert in the fields of firearms identification and ballistics, testified that he examined Deputy Sallustio's 9 millimeter handqun, his revolver, and the shell casings and bullet fragments found at Church's Chicken (R1584-1639). Garland determined that 15 of the casings found at the scene had been fired from Sallustio's 9 millimeter pistol (R1596). There were four casings that had been fired from Sallustio's revolver (R1594). Garland determined that another 9 millimeter semi-automatic weapon fired the 10 aluminum casings and 3 brass casings found at the scene (R1597-98). Three other casings found in the Toyota with tag number HES89E were also fired from the same pistol (R1599). Garland determined that four casings taken from the rear seat of the Toyota were .38 caliber and had been fired from a revolver (R1612-13). Two .38 caliber casings found in Appellant's apartment had been fired from the same revolver (R1613-14). Three of the fragments found inside Church's Chicken had been fired from a .38 revolver, but not from Sallustio's revolver (R1603-04).

Garland testified that the bullet removed from the pocket of Sallustio's shirt was a 9 millimeter which was fired through a pistol with the same characteristics as an Intertech-9 (R1614). That front portion of Sallustio's vest contained a fired bullet inside the fabric (R1616). The bullet was fired from the same pistol as the bullet that was removed from Sallustio's pocket

(R1617). The bullet removed from Sallustio's back was also fired from the same pistol (R1619). Garland also determined that the two bullets found in Deputy Greeney's body (State's Exhibits 43 & 44) also were fired from the same pistol (R1620-21). All the bullets that Garland had from Sallustio were fired from the same weapon (R1636). Garland also examined Greeney's shirt and found two bullet holes (R1622). There was a hole to the left shoulder area which had residue consistent with a shot coming from six to nine inches (R1622-23). A hole to the pocket had no residue (R1622-23). There was no indication that this shot came from a close distance (R1635). There was residue to the right epaulet which was consistent with a shot from six to nine inches (R1623).

Richard Valentine testified that on January 14, 1990, Appellant purchased a 9 millimeter semi-automatic from the AB Pawn and Gun Shop where he worked (R1549-53). Valentine doesn't remember if there was someone with Appellant when he purchased the gun (R1553-54).

Raul Vila, an associate medical examiner of Broward County, testified that he examined the body of Deputy Greeney (R917). The cause of death was multiple gun shot wounds (R930). The examination showed two gunshot wounds (R918). One gunshot wound was to the front of the neck (R918,921). This wound was fatal in itself (R927). There was some stippling around the wound (R921). This was indicative of an intermediate range shot (R921). Greeney was alive when he received this wound (R927). The other gunshot wound was to the front shoulder region (R919). This wound was fatal in itself (R930). This wound was not consistent with somebody

standing over somebody and firing down (R929). It was more consistent with someone being hunched over and somebody standing in front of them (R930). The wound to the left shoulder did not have stippling (R923). However, from examination of Greeney's shirt, Vila opined that the shot was from the same distance as the neck shot (R923-24).

Vila also testified that there were also abrasions to the left side of Greeney's head (R919). The abrasions were consistent with Greeney hitting his head (R920). The abrasions are consistent with Greeney hitting his head against the side of the car (R935). Vila also noted a graze wound on the lower part of Greeney's ear (R919). There was a soot-like deposit in the ear (R919). This would be indicative of a very close-range gunshot from several inches to a couple of feet (R920). It is possible that the soot in the ear was the result of another gunshot wound (R939). There was also a shot through the epaulet consistent with a shot from a distance (R936).

Mauricio Diamieda, a surgeon at Broward General Hospital, testified that on February 17, 1990, he came into contact with Deputy Sallustio (R864). Sallustio had bullet injuries to his left forearm and to his back (R865). A bullet also struck Sallustio's vest but did not penetrate his chest (R865).

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