SEP 23 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 78,180

LANCELOT ARMSTRONG,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 656879
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299
Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

Cook v.State, 581 So. 2d 141, 143 (Fla. 1991). For that same reason Scott v. Dugger, 604 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 1992) is also distinguishable. In Scott, the co-defendant was equally culpable and received a life sentence.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Washington v. State</u>, 432 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1983) is also unpersuasive. This Court reduced his sentence to life based on the fact that the jury recommended life, there existed two statutory and one nonstatutory mitigating factor, balanced against two aggravating factors.

Lastly appellant's reliance on <u>Kramer v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S266, 267 (Fla. April 29, 1993) is also not dispositive. This Court found death to be disproportional because there existed two statutory mitigating factors, two nonstatutory mitigating factors. Furthermore, the murder was the result of a spontaneous fight between a disturbed alcoholic and a someone who was legally drunk.

In summary, appellant's death sentence is proportionate. <u>Jones, supra; Valle, supra</u>.

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS DETERMINATION REGARDING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING EXAMINATION

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in denying appellant's request for an MRI. This claim is without merit both procedurally and substantively. During litigation of competency motion, appellant requested that a MRI be given. (R After some discussion including no objection from the state, (R 125, 142-147), the trial court decided to take the issue under advisement. (R 147). The record does not indicate that the motion was ever revisited by appellant. Since appellant never obtained a ruling form the court regarding the motion, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. Richardson v. State, 437 So. 2d 1091, 1094 (Fla. 1983) (failure to pursue motion to strike even though judge failed to rule not preserved for appeal); State v. Barber, 301 So. 2d 7, 9 (Fla. 1974) (motion not ruled on by trial court, not cognizable on direct appeal); Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 202 (Fla. (1992)(counsel's failure to bring to court's attention its failure to comply with a defense request that was mandated by statute waives review of trial court's actions).

Even if preserved appellant cannot demonstrate that he was entitled to the requested test. Appellant was evaluated by three psychologists and one psychiatrist. Three stated that appellant was competent to stand trial. (R 24, 65-66, 86-87,

One expert, Dr. Appel, a clinical psychologist, stated that appellant was incompetent to stand trial based on his inability to read or write. (R 118, 124, 125, 145). The requested MRI was made during Dr. Appel's testimony.(R 125). was suggested that an MRI may establish the cause of appellant's inability to read and write. Dr. Appel stated that the MRI would only shed light on the possible origin of appellant's dyslexia and would not contribute any information whatsoever regarding the crime. (R 125, 142). Dr. Spencer stated that nothing in Appel's report would change his mind as her report was not helpful. (R The MRI was simply not relevant to competency. 86, 146-147). Dr. Appell's conclusion that appellant was incompetent based on an inability to read or write is legally faulty. (R145). Whether he can read or write has very little impact on his ability to assist in his defense. 27 A fortioari, any additional information regarding the origin of appellant's reading/writing difficulty would also be not be relevant. Given that testimony must be relevant to an issue, trial court was correct in precluding the test. Hall v. State, 568 So. 2d 882, 885 (Fla. 1990)(expert testimony that defendant suffered from mental infirmity without a conclusion that the defendant could not distinguish between right and wrong is irrelevant).

 $^{^{27}}$ Appellant was provided with a reader.(R 925).

ISSUE IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT RELY ON IMPERMISSIBLE VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE

Appellant claims that the trial court relied on impermissible victim impact evidence in violation of Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987). This issue is not preserved for appeal as there was no objection at trial to any of the statements or letters presented by the family. Grossman v. State, 833, 842 (1988) cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071 525 So. 2d (1989) (Booth error must be preserved by objection at trial); Parker v. Dugger, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989)(to be cognizable in collateral appeal, Booth error must have been preserved at trial); ; Porter v. State, 559 So. 2d 201, 202 (1990)(erroneous admission of victim impact information must be preserved at trial).

Briefly regarding the merits, appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court considered any of the victim impact statements. The "evidence" in question amounts to three letters sent to Ms. Henderson of D.O.C. who was responsible for completing appellant's PSI, (R 509-512); and a very brief statement from the victim's family asking the judge to follow the jury's recommendation. (R 2048-2049). There is no indication that the trial court considered these statements when imposing sentence. (R 2034-2037, 2050-2058, 2430-2436). As a matter of

There was never any testimony admitted at any phase of the proceedings nor was any of the contested information brought before the jury.

course such letters appear in the PSI, that does not indicate that the trial court ignored the law and considered such evidence. Grossaman v. State, 525 So. 2d at, 846 n.9 (Fla. 1988) cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989)(judges routinely are exposed to inadmissible and irrelevant evidence but are able to block out influence of same); Scull v. State, 533 So. 2d 1137, 1142-43 reversed on grounds, (Fla. 1988)(Merely viewing victim impact information contained in PSI is not error). Appellant has failed to establish that the trial court considered improper evidence. Grossman

If this Court determines that the trial court did consider such evidence, any error must be considered harmless. The court found the existence of four valid aggravators balanced statutory mitigating evidence and very weak nonstatutory mitigating evidence. 29 The brief statements at the final hearing were made after the judge had already written the sentencing order but prior to oral pronouncement of same. Finally the jury, who was not exposed to any of the information, voted for death absent the impermissible information. (R 1953-1954). Any error must be considered harmless. Grossman; Davis v. State, 586 So. 2d 1038, 1040-1041 (Fla. 1991) (admission of victim impact evidence harmless where jury recommended death even though

Even if this Court determines that one of the aggravting factors is invalid based on imporper doubling, there still remained three aggravating factors balanced against little mitigating evidence:

they were not exposed to information and judge's sentencing order does not make reference to the inadmissible evidence).

ISSUE X

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INQUIRED OF APPELLANT REGARDING HIS MOTION TO DISMISS COUNSEL

Appellant claims that the trial court failed to adequately inquire of the appellate and other appropriate parties regarding his motion to dismiss counsel based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. The record belies appellant's contention. Furthermore, such claims are better suited for a motion for postconviction relief, particularly considering the possibility for an evidentiary hearing. Ventura v. State, 560 So. 2d 217, 220 (Fla. 1990).

1991, almost three May 29, weeks after evidentiary portion of the penalty phase, appellant filed a motion to discharge counsel. (SR 493). 30 The motion was very general complaining that counsel was to busy to represent appellant and he had lost confidence in him. (SR 493). During litigation of the motion for new trial, the court inquired of appellant regarding his motion to dismiss counsel. (R 1993). Appellant addressed three particular allegations. The first one that defense counsel should have investigated/pursued a defense centered around appellant's inability to fire the murder weapon based on an accident he was involved in three days before

 $^{^{30}}$ The identical motion was then again filed on June 19, 1991. (SR 540). At the sentencing hearing the following day, appellant did not address his second motion. (R 2033-2034). Appellant's counsel informed the court that it existed but appellant never attempted to discuss his allegations.

the murder. (R 1995-1994). Defense counsel was aware appellant's position as he explained it to the judge. (R 1994). Although, defense counsel did not offer an explanation as to why he did not pursue such a defense, the record is clear that same was simply not viable or credible. There was direct testimony that appellant was the only one in possession of the murder weapon, and he shot Officer Greeny at close range. (R 706, 800-808, 1482, 1569). He then chased after Officer Salustio and was shot by Sallustio. (R 810-811). Any claim that appellant could not lift his arms to fire the gun was not credible. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying this claim. Kott v. State, 518 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) (no evidence existed that there was a lack of communication during the trial between the defendant and counsel which would indicate that defendant did not receive a proper defense).

Next appellant complains that the trial counsel failed to provide appellant with the depositions of all the people disposed in the case. Defense counsel stated that he read the pertinent ones to appellant. (R 1996-1997). Appellant makes no attempt to demonstrate how counsel was ineffective in this regard. The trial court was correct in denying appellant's motion to discharge counsel on the basis of this claim. Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 203 (Fla. 1992)(allegation that defense attorney did not visit defendant enough, and response by attorney that he had but there was simply a misunderstanding did not require appointment of new counsel).

Lastly, appellant claims that a list of people from Massachusetts would have testified at the penalty phase, however, defense counsel in some way precluded them from doing so. (R 1999 2000). Appellant does not indicate who these people are and what they would testify about. Given the cursory nature of appellant's allegation, and the inability to address the claim based on the record before this court, this claim is better suited in a motion for postconviction relief. Ventura, 560 So. 2d at 220.

If there was any error, it must be considered harmless given the untimeliness of appellant's motion. The penalty phase had already been conducted three weeks prior to the filing of the motion. The bulk of counsel's work was complete. The trial court properly denied appellant's motion. (R 2003). Ventura; Kott.

ISSUE XI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE PROSECUTOR TO QUESTION THE WITNESS REGARDING WHETHER OR NOT SHE RECALLED MAKING A CERTAIN STATEMENT

Appellant claims that the trial court erred by allowing the prosecutor to question the witness about two previous statements she had made. This issue is not preserved for appeal as there was never any specific objection to the witness's responses when they were made. In the alternative, the gratuitous remarks made by the witness were harmless and did not effect the verdict.

During the direct testimony of Yvonne Hutchinson, appellant's girlfriend, she stated what appellant has told her regarding the events of that night. (R 1124). When she was finished the prosecutor asked her if she had given a statement earlier that included anything else that appellant had said to her. She responded:

I probably did but right now that's what I remember. (R 1125).

The prosecutor then begins to show the witness her prior statement. Appellant's counsel objects:

Your Honor I'm going to object. This is his own witness and he is trying to rehabilitate at this point. (R 1125).

The Court overrules his objection. The trial court 's ruling is correct. See <u>Fla. R. Crim. Pro.</u> 90.613; Refreshing the Memory of a Witness.

The prosecutor then shows Ms. Hitchinson her statement of April 18, 1990. The trial court tells her to read it to herself and see if it helps. The prosecutor then states:

Does this refresh your memory? No. It doesn't? No. Do you remember giving that statement? DEFENSE ATTORNEY; Your Honor, already answered it doesn't refresh her memory. THE COURT: She can answer that question. remember giving WITNESS: Ι statement, but I don't remember saying that he said that he shot a police officer. (R 1125-1126).

objection statement, Αt this point there is no to the appellant is precluded from challenging consequently, admissibility of same. Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1268, 1275 (Fla. 1992)(challenge to admissibility of witness statement preserved where no objection was made at the time the statement was uttered); Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425, 429 (Fla. 1990)(failure to make objection to improper line of questioning at time of questioning waived issue for review).

The prosecutor then shows the witness another statement she made on April 6, 1990. He asks her if it refreshes her memory, and asked her to read it to herself. (R 1126).

WITNESS: No. PROSECUTOR: That says the same thing as the other statement, doesn't it? WITNESS: Yes.

No objection by appellant, even though a reference is made to the contents of the statement.

The prosecutor then asks:

And it still doesn't refresh your memory?

WITNESS: No. (R 1126).
PROSECUTOR: Are you saying that you didn't say it? (R 1227 line 2-3).
DEFENSE COUNSEL: Judge I'm going to object. She's already said it doesn't refresh her memory.
COURT: He asked another question.

Appellant's objection went to the fact that the question had already been asked and answered. It had nothing to do with the grounds now raised on appeal, i.e., inadmissibility of the contents of the prior statement. This has not been preserved for appeal. Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363, 363 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). The witness then responded:

WITNESS: I remember giving this statement, but I don't remember saying that he said that he shot a police officer.

DEFENSE ATTORNEY: Judge, I am going to object to that, and I would ask that it be stricken from the record. (R 1127 lines 8-9).

This objection also does not preserve this issue for appeal as the objection is not specific. See Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 90. 104. Nor did appellant request a curative instruction. Brown v. State, 550 So. 2d 527, 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)(failure to seek curative instruction or motion for new trial waives issue for appeal). To the extent that it was a proper objection it was too late. Farinas, 569 So. 2d at 429. It should have been made at the time the objectionable statement was first made.

The Court, before ruling on the objection wanted to make sure what question was being asked by the prosecutor:

COURT: If you will let me hear what's being said up here, maybe I can make a ruling.

He asked her if she's saying she did not say that. Isn't that your question?

PROSECUTOR: Yes, Your Honor, it is.(R 1127).

Obviously, the Court thinks that the objection went to the question posed by the prosecutor and not the answer given by the witness. Defense counsel did not explain his objection any further. Review is precluded. Farinas; Brown.

The prosecutor then was permitted to ask his question;

PROSECUTOR: Are you saying you did not say that? WITNESS: No. I am saying I remember giving statement, but I don't remember said that he shot saying that he police officer. COURT: She said she doesn't remember saying that. But it says that in PROSECUTOR: Okay. both of these statements, right? (R 1127). WITNESS: Uh-huh. PROSECUTOR: Okay. DEFENSE ATTORNEY: Your Honor, I would ask that what she said be stricken from the record. COURT: Motion denied. (R 1128 line 3-4).

Appellant's objection was not specific enough to apprise the judge of the alleged error. It is clear the judge was concentrating on the questions asked and not the answers given. This issue is procedurally barred. <u>Farinas</u>; <u>Brown</u>; <u>Sapp</u>; <u>Long</u>.

To the extent that this Court finds the witness's statement to be inadmissible, any error must be considered harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant also told Ruel Allen that the he shot a police officer, consequently the statement was cumulative and therefore harmless.(R 1302-04, 1319-1320). Kight v. State, 512 So. 2d 922, 926 (Fla. 1987). (improper admission of confession harmless error were statement was cumulative). The physical evidence also unequivocally establishes that appellant and not his co-defendant killed Officer Greeny.

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